IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

OF CALIFORNIA Plaintiff and Respondent) No. S21	8233	
		ourt of Appeal o. D062659	
HUGO GARCIA, Defendant and Appellant.)		
	_ /	SUPREME COURT FILED	
Fourth Appellate District, Division One San Diego County Case No. SCN291820 The Honorable Daniel B. Goldstein, Judge		NOV 1 4 2014	
The Honorable Barner B. Gol	astent, juage	Prank A. McGuire Clerk Deputy CRC	
		(0.25(0))	

NANCY J. KING California State Bar No. 163477 1901 First Avenue, Suite 138 San Diego, CA 92101 (858) 755-5258 njking51@gmail.com Attorney for appellant GARCIA By Appointment of the Supreme Court of the State of California

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did appellant commit a single burglary, or two separate burglaries, when he entered a commercial building and robbed a store clerk, and then took her to the store's bathroom and raped her?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 9, 2012, a jury convicted appellant Hugo Garcia of the following felony offenses:

Count 1: Burglary (Pen. Code, § 459);

Count 2: Robbery (§ 211);

Count 3: Kidnaping with the intent to commit rape (§ 209, subd. (b)(1));

Count 4: Burglary (§ 459);

Count 5: Forcible Rape (§ 261, subd. (a)(2));

Count 6: Rape by foreign object (§ 289, subd. (a));

Count 7: Unlawful taking and driving of a vehicle (Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a));

Counts 8-9: Attempted robbery (§§ 664/211);

(1 C.T. 112-123, 276-277)

The jury also found that appellant personally used a firearm within the meaning of section 12022.53, subdivision (b), and that counts 5 and 6 were committed under circumstances bringing them within the meaning of section 667.61, subdivisions (b) through (e). (1 C.T. 112-123, 276-277.)

¹ All further statutory citations are to the California Penal Code unless otherwise noted

Appellant was sentenced on August 27, 2012 to an aggregate term of 74 years, 4 months to life. (3 R.T. 449-440; 1 C.T. 252-255, 280-281.)

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeal held that appellant was properly convicted of two burglaries (counts 1 and 4), based on a single entry into a building, but with multiple crimes committed against a single victim (counts 2, 3, 5, 6). In the unpublished portion, the court found that sentence on the second burglary count must be stayed, and ordered corrections to the abstract of judgment. The judgment was otherwise affirmed.

This court granted appellant's petition for review on July 9, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

Jane Doe (Doe) arrived for work at the Family Accessories WIC store in Escondido on May 18, 2011. (1 R.T. 33-34.) Her coworker had just left for the day and Doe was working by herself. (1 R.T. 33, 98-99.) At 4:02 p.m., video surveillance showed appellant riding his bicycle near store. (1 R.T. 116.) Approximately 20 minutes later, appellant entered the store, asked what time the store closed, and went back outside. (1 R.T. 35-38, 96.)

Appellant re-entered a short time later, and asked "weird" questions about the WIC vouchers. (1 R.T. 38-39.) He then pulled a gun out of his pocket and pointed it at Doe. (1 R.T. 48.) Appellant asked for the money out of the register, and then asked for Doe's personal money. (1 R.T. 49-50, 53-54.) Doe complied with his requests, giving him a total of less than \$100. (1 R.T. 50.)

Appellant then instructed Doe to close the front door to the store, take down the open sign, and turn off the lights. (1 R.T. 53-58.) Still pointing the gun at Doe, appellant took her to the back of the store, toward the bathroom. (1 R.T. 59, 61-64.) Outside of the bathroom, appellant instructed Doe to take off all her clothes, but

² Counts 8 and 9 pertain to a separate incident, the facts of which are not recounted here.

she resisted and did not initially comply. (1 R.T. 63-64.) Once inside the bathroom, Doe took off her clothes. (1 R.T. 63-64.) After she was fully unclothed, appellant left the room and returned with hair bands to tie Doe's hands. (1 R.T. 67-68.) Fearing for her safety with the gun still in appellant's hand, Doe offered to tie herself up and did so with her hands. (1 R.T. 68-69.) Appellant left the room for a second time to get more hair bands for Doe's feet, but the hair bands broke. (1 R.T. 69-70.)

Appellant left the room for a third time. (1 R.T. 71.) When he returned, his penis was exposed, and he raped Doe. (1 R.T. 71-74.) Appellant then left the store, taking Doe's car to drive away. (1 R.T. 76-79.)

In a statement following his arrest, appellant admitted committing both robbery and sexual assault. (1 C.T. 136-150, 185-205.) Doe identified appellant in court as the man who assaulted her. (1 R.T. 80-83.)

ARGUMENT

A DEFENDANT WHO ENTERS A BUILDING OCCUPIED BY A SINGLE TENANT AND COMMITS MULTIPLE CRIMES IN SEPARATE ROOMS WITHIN THE BUILDING HAS ONLY COMMITTED ONE BURGLARY

A. Introduction

On May 18, 2011, Mr. Garcia entered a store, robbed and sexually assaulted the lone clerk, and then stole the clerk's vehicle. He was convicted of two counts of burglary for his actions inside the store. In his appeal, Mr. Garcia argued the evidence was insufficient to support the second charge of burglary. No case had previously upheld multiple counts of burglary for multiple crimes committed against one victim following a single entry into a building.

In the published portion of the opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed, finding that the evidence supported a second count of burglary because after robbing the victim at the checkout area near the front of the store, appellant took the woman to the bathroom at the rear of the building and sexually assaulted her. The opinion concluded appellant's entry with felonious intent into the bathroom constituted a separate burglary. (Slip Op. 9, 24-29.)

The ruling is an unprecedented and improper expansion of the Legislature's definition of burglary. Appellant demonstrates below that the ruling conflicts with the history and evolution of burglary law, and accordingly, it violates appellant's rights to due process and fair notice.

B. The Evolution of the Law Regarding Burglary

In California, the crime of burglary is defined as entry into "any house, room, apartment, tenement, shop, warehouse, store, mill, barn, stable, outhouse or other building, . . . with intent to commit grand or petit larceny or any felony" (Pen. Code, § 459.) The crime is complete upon entry into the structure – a concept that has been settled for well over a century: "The gravamen of a charge of burglary is the act of entry itself, and 'An entry may be made with intent to commit two or more felonies, but that would constitute only one burglary." (*People v. Failla* (1966) 64 Cal.2d 560, 568, quoting *People v. Hall* (1892) 94 Cal. 595, 597.)

Section 459 was enacted as part of California's first penal law, the Crimes and Punishment Act of 1850. (Stats 1850 ch 99 § 58.) Since then, section 459 has had few substantive amendments, most notably in 1913, which removed the requirement of a nighttime entry. (Stats 1913, ch 144, § 1.) The other nine amendments, including the most recent one in 1991, added various containers, vehicles, and vessels to the list of structures into which an unlawful entry would constitute a burglary.³

 $^{^3}$ (Stats 1858 ch 245 \S 1; Amended Code 1875-76 ch 56 \S 1; Stats 1947 ch 1052 \S 1; Stats 1977 ch 690 \S 3; Stats 1978 ch 579 \S 22; Stats 1984 ch

Before the enactment of section 459, burglary at common law was generally defined as a crime "against the habitation." (2 Witkin and Epstein, California Criminal Law (4th Ed. 2012) Crimes Against Property, § 128, p. 170.) Thus, "The offense was committed only if the structure was a dwelling or other building within the 'curtilage,' the defendant broke in, and the act took place at night." (*Id.* at pp. 170-171, citing 3 Warton, Crim. Law (15th ed.), § 316.) With the enactment of section 459, unlawful entry into a non-residential building came under the purview of burglary law for the first time. In upholding a defendant's conviction for entering a chicken coop to steal chickens almost 150 years ago, this court confirmed the Legislature's intent to include non-residential structures in the statute:

While the language of the burglary statute, 1850 Cal. Stat. p. 235, § 58, might have been made more definite and certain by employing words in common use in its amendment at 1858 Cal. Stat. p. 206, it could not well be made more comprehensive. The absence of more particular terms of description indicates an intention, on the part of the California Legislature, to include every kind of buildings or structures "housed in" or roofed, regardless of the fact whether they are at the time, or ever have been, inhabited by members of the human family. A house, in the sense of the statute, is any

854 § 2; Stats 1987 ch 344 § 1; Stats 1989 ch 357 § 2; Stats 1991 ch 942 § 14 (AB 628).)

structure which has walls on all sides and is covered by a roof.

(People v. Stickman (1867) 34 Cal. 242, 245.)

Section 460, enacted in 1872, originally declared "that any burglary committed in the nighttime is burglary of the first degree, and any burglary committed in the daytime, is burglary of the second degree, with no distinction between commercial and residential burglary. (Enacted Stats 1872. Amended Code Amdts 1875-76 ch 56 § 2; *People v. Barnhart* (1881) 59 Cal. 381, 383.) In 1982, the Legislature closed the door on the "time of day" distinction, and amended section 460 to generally make any type of residential burglary to be of the first degree, and all other burglaries second degree. (Stats 1982 ch 1290 § 1, ch 1297 § 1.)

While it has broadened the definition of burglary to eliminate the distinction between nighttime burglaries and those committed during the day, and created a distinction between residential and commercial burglaries, the Legislature has never toyed with the basic actus reus and mens rea that establishes criminal liability, in that the offense is complete upon entry with the requisite intent.

California courts have expanded the definition of entry to include rooms within buildings, allowing for the defendant's intent to arise after an initial entry into the structure. Thus, in 1884, this court held that one who enters, with burglarious intent, a room of a

house, "enters the house with such intent." (*People v. Young* (1884) 65 Cal. 225, 226, .)

This concept, of "after-acquired intent," was discussed in *People v. McCormack* (1992) 234 Cal.App.3d 253, when the appellate court approved of a jury instruction which stated: "'The intent [to steal the personal property of another] need not be in the mind of the person at the time of the initial entry into the structure, if he subsequently forms the intent and enters a room within the structure." (*Id.* at page 255.) The court found "the challenged instruction was proper because it is consistent with the literal language of the controlling code section," which "has included entry into a room with the requisite intent since the Penal Code was first adopted in 1872." (*Ibid.*)

The *Young* precedent was relied on most recently by this court in *People v. Sparks* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 71, where it considered whether a burglary occurred when the defendant entered a home, and then acquired the intent to commit a rape in the victim's bedroom. In answering the question affirmatively, this court commented that, "In this regard, *Young* reflected the prevailing common law understanding that entry from inside a structure into a room within that structure could constitute a burglary." (*Id.*, at p. 80, citing *People v. Young, supra*, 65 Cal. at p. 226.) This court then construed section 459 to find that a burglary was committed when the defendant

entered the victim's bedroom with the requisite intent. (*Id.* at pp. 86-88.)

While the question of after-acquired intent has been resolved for many years, and is consistent with the language of the statute, courts have affirmed multiple burglary convictions for entry into separate rooms in a single structure under certain circumstances, such as student dormitory rooms within interconnected buildings (People v. O'Keefe (1990) 222 Cal. App. 3d 517, 521), separately leased and locked offices in a small office building (*People v. Church* (1989) 215 Cal. App.3d 1151, 1159, disapproved on another ground in *People* v. Bouzas (1991) 53 Cal.3d 467, 477-480), and six separate rooms at a single school, where the rooms were assigned to different people, locked to the outside, and largely located in separate buildings on the school campus (People v. Elsey (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 948, 954-963.) (See also *People v. Kwok* (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 1236, 1245-1252 [two burglary counts upheld when defendant entered the victim's residence to obtain an unauthorized copy of the house key, and then made a second entry nine days later and carried out an assault on the victim].)

Appellant is aware of only one case that previously considered an issue similar to that presented here, and the court in that case concluded there was only a single burglary. In *People v. Richardson* (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 570, the defendant was given

permission to stay in an apartment shared by his sister and another woman, as long as he slept on the couch and did not use or take anything without permission. The women had separate bedrooms with no exterior locks, had access to each other's rooms, and shared the rest of the apartment. After a period of time, the women discovered several items missing from each of their rooms, and the defendant ultimately admitted to taking the items and selling them. (Id. at p. 572.) The court held that it was error to instruct the jury that the defendant's entry into separate rooms of a single-family residence constituted separate acts of burglary. (*Id.* at pp. 573-577.) The court relied in particular on the rule, as stated in *People v*. Thomas (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 899: "[W]here a burglar enters several rooms in a single structure, each with felonious intent, and steals something from each, ordinarily he or she cannot be charged with multiple burglaries and punished separately for each room burgled unless each room constituted a separate, individual dwelling place within the meaning of section 459 and 460." (Id. at p. 906, fn. 2, emphasis in original.)

The *Richardson* court distinguished the facts in its case from those in *People v. Wilson* (1989) 208 Cal.App. 3d 611, 615, "where the Sixth District found that entry into a locked rented room in a house was entry of a separate residence within the meaning of sections 459 and 460 because each boarder in a rented house was given a

separate lock and key to his or her door. Rather, here, the women rented the apartment together as friends, and shared space in their rooms." (*People v. Richardson, supra,* 117 Cal.App.4th at p. 575.)

None of these decisions depart from the general rule, as stated in *People v. Thomas, supra*, that entry into several rooms in a structure with felonious intent constitutes a single burglary. In *Sparks*, this court expressly declined to reconsider the rule articulated in *Thomas*:

In reaching this conclusion, we emphasize that our holding does not signify that a defendant who, with the requisite felonious intent, enters multiple unsecured rooms in a single-family house properly may be convicted of multiple counts of burglary. As noted above, some California decisions have questioned whether multiple convictions might be sustained on such facts (*Thomas*, *supra*, 235 Cal. App. 3d 899, 906, fn. 2; see also *Elsey*, *supra*, 81 Cal. App. 4th 948, 959), and have no occasion to consider that issue in this case, in which multiple burglary convictions are not involved.

(*People v. Sparks, supra,* 28 Cal.4th at p. 87, fn 21, citing *Thomas, supra,* 235 Cal. App. 3d at p. 906, fn. 2, and *People v. Elsey, supra,* 81 Cal.App.4th at p. 959.)

The occasion has now arrived where a defendant who entered only a single structure and committed crimes against a single victim was nevertheless convicted of multiple burglaries.

C. The Opinion of the Court of Appeal Should be Reversed

1. In determining the definition of burglary, this court must consider the legislative intent of section 459

Penal Code section 459, in full, provides as follows:

Every person who enters any house, room, apartment, tenement, shop, warehouse, store, mill, barn, stable, outhouse or other building, tent, vessel, as defined in Section 21 of the Harbors and Navigation Code, floating home, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 18075.55 of the Health and Safety Code, railroad car, locked or sealed cargo container, whether or not mounted on a vehicle, trailer coach, as defined in Section 635 of the Vehicle Code, any house car, as defined in Section 362 of the Vehicle Code, inhabited camper, as defined in Section 243 of the Vehicle Code, vehicle as defined by the Vehicle Code, when the doors are locked, aircraft as defined by Section 21012 of the Public Utilities Code, or mine or any underground portion thereof, with intent to commit grand or petit larceny or any felony is guilty of burglary. As used in this chapter, "inhabited" means currently being used for dwelling purposes, whether occupied or not. A house, trailer, vessel designed for habitation, or portion of a building is currently being used for dwelling purposes if, at the time of the burglary, it was not occupied solely because a natural or other disaster caused the occupants to leave the premises.

In any case involving statutory interpretation, the court's "'fundamental task" is to "'determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose.'" (*People v. Scott* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1415, 1422, quoting *People v. Harrison* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1211, 1221–

1222.) The court should "'begin by examining the statute's words, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning. [Citation.]' [Citation.] 'When the language of a statute is clear, we need go no further.' [Citation.] But where a statute's terms are unclear or ambiguous, we may "look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part.'" (*Ibid.*)

Statutory interpretation is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. (*Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724; *Regents of University of California v. Superior Court* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 509, 531.)

2. The Legislature has never indicated an intention to allow for multiple burglaries when a defendant enters a singly occupied building and commits multiple crimes inside

Courts cannot create new crimes – all criminal liability must emanate from statutory language. (*People v. Chun* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1174, 1183 [citing Pen. Code, § 6].) The Legislature's failure to act should not be construed by courts as an invitation to expand beyond the commonly understood meaning of a statute: "Legislative inaction is a 'slim reed upon which to lean' [citation]" (*Grosset v. Wenaas* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1100, 1117), especially for penal liability "in

view of the Legislature's long-standing declaration that '[n]o act or omission . . . is criminal or punishable, except as prescribed or authorized by [the Penal Code]' (Pen. Code, § 6)." (*People v. Patterson* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 615, 641 [conc. and dis. opn. of Panelli, J.] [cited with approval in *Chun*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 1183].)

""It is the prerogative, indeed the duty, of the Legislature to recognize degrees of culpability when drafting a Penal Code."

(Michael M. v. Superior Court (1979) 25 Cal.3d 608, 613.) And, as stated in People v. Flores (1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 74, 88: "The Legislature is responsible for determining which class of crimes deserves certain punishments and which crimes should be distinguished from others. As long as the Legislature acts rationally, such determinations should not be disturbed."

The question for this court then, is to determine if there is any basis for finding that the Legislature has ever intended for multiple burglaries to arise from the circumstances presented here. The answer appears to be no. The Legislature has had over 150 years of opportunities to amend Penal Code section 459 to codify the concept embraced by the Court of Appeal in this case. It has been a dozen years since this court's dicta in *People v. Sparks*, which assumed there could be no multiple burglaries from a single entry, but acknowledged the question had been broached by lower courts. (*People v. Sparks, supra,* 28 Cal.4th at p. 87, fn 21.) Nevertheless, the

Legislature has made no changes, satisfied instead with the basic definition of burglary that has served society during at least three separate centuries.

In reference to burglary, this court has stated, "'The laws are primarily designed . . . not to deter the trespass and the intended crime, which are prohibited by other laws, so much as to forestall the germination of a situation dangerous to personal safety." (*People v. Gauze* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 709, 715, quoting *People v. Lewis* (1969) 274 Cal.App.2d 912, 920.) The situation arose in this case, as in all others, once the defendant crossed the threshold. Once inside the store, the Penal Code provided for prosecution and ample punishment for all of appellant's individual crimes, including robbery, kidnapping, and rape.

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