In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

HUGO GARCIA.

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S218233

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB - 9 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D062659 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCN291820 The Honorable Daniel B. Goldstein, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. A BURGLARY IS COMMITTED EACH TIME A DEFENDANT
ENTERS A STRUCTURE OR A SEPARATE ROOM THEREIN WITH
THE INTENT TO COMMIT ONE OF THE ENUMERATED
FELONIES

In California, the Legislature has increasingly expanded the common law crime of burglary. Once limited to actual break-ins of residences in the nighttime, to commit a theft, the offense now covers any unauthorized entry, into a variety of places, at any time, with the intent to commit any felony or theft. This evolution reflects the understanding that such unauthorized entries are invasive to personal security and increase the likelihood of harm to the victims of the crime.

Garcia entered a store and, at gunpoint, ordered the female victim to give him cash. This act, alone, created a dangerous situation, because the victim was at Garcia's mercy and was at risk of being shot. That danger was substantially increased, and the victim's privacy rights further violated, when, at gunpoint, Garcia directed her to a rear bathroom which was outside of public view in order to subject her to a sexual assault. Both the store and bathroom fell within the purview of the burglary statute's protection. The store was a "building or structure," and the bathroom was a "room." Each entry with the requisite felonious intent, therefore,

constituted a burglary in its own right. Since Garcia completed two burglaries, he was subject to two separate convictions.

A. Evolution of the Crime of Burglary

At common law, the crime of burglary was defined as breaking and entering the dwelling house of another in the nighttime with the intent to commit a felony. (Sparks, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 78, citing 2 Jones' Blackstone (1916) p. 2431.) The interest sought to be protected by the common law crime was "the sanctity of a person's home during the night hours when the resident was most vulnerable." (People v. Davis (1998) 18 Cal.4th 712, 720 (Davis).) "The predominant factor underlying common law burglary was the desire to protect the security of the home, and the person within his home. Burglary was not an offense against property, real or personal, but an offense against the habitation, for it could only be committed against the dwelling of another.... The dwelling was sacred, but a duty was imposed on the owner to protect himself as well as looking to the law for protection. The intruder had to break and enter; if the owner left the door open, his carelessness would allow the intruder to go unpunished. The offense had to occur at night; in the daytime home-owners were not asleep, and could detect the intruder and protect their homes. [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted.)

In California, burglary was first defined by statute in 1850, when the Legislature adopted section 58 of the Act Concerning Crimes and Punishments. The original statute defined burglary as a nighttime entry, with the requisite intent, into "any dwelling house, or any other house whatever . . ." (Stats. 1850, ch. 99, § 58, p. 235.)⁴

⁴ The original statute provided:

Every person who shall, in the night time, forcibly break and enter, or without force enter (the doors or windows being (continued...)

In 1858, the existing phrase, "any house, room, apartment, or tenement" was substituted for "any dwelling house, or any house whatever." (Stats. 1858, ch. 245, § 58, p. 206.)⁵ Upon codification of the Penal Code in 1872, the statute became section 459 and was essentially the same. (1872 Pen. Code, § 459.)⁶ This Court explained in *People v. Stickman* (1867) 34 Cal. 242 (*Stickman*) that by replacing the words "any dwelling house, or any house whatever" with "any house, room, apartment or tenement, "the Legislature intended to broaden the definition of burglary, not constrict it." This Court went on to say that the language of the statute "could not well be made more comprehensive, and we think the absence of

open) any dwelling house, or any other house whatever, or tent, or vessel, or other water craft, with intent to commit murder, robbery, rape, mayhem, larceny, or other felony, shall be deemed to be guilty of burglary, and upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a term not less than one nor more than ten years.

Every person who shall, in the night-time, forcibly break and enter, or without force enter (the doors or windows being open) any house, room, apartment or tenement, or any tent, vessel, or water-craft, with intent to commit grand or petit larceny, or any felony, shall be deemed to be guilty of burglary, and, on conviction thereof, shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a term not less than one nor more than ten years.

Every person who, in the night-time, forcibly breaks and enters, or without force enters through any open door, window, or other aperture, any house, room, apartment, or tenement, or any tent, vessel, water craft, or railroad car, with intent to commit grand or petit larceny, or any felony, is guilty of burglary.

^{(...}continued)

⁵ The 1858 statute provided:

⁶ The 1872 statute provided:

more particular terms of description indicates an intention, on the part of the Legislature, to include every kind of buildings or structures 'housed in' or roofed, regardless of the fact whether they are at the time, or ever have been, inhabited by members of the human family." (*Id.* at p. 245.)

The protections afforded by the burglary laws have continued to evolve. There is no longer a requirement of a breaking; a mere entry will suffice. Also, the crime need not be committed at night. (*Davis, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at pp. 720-721.) Section 459, which was most recently amended in 1991, currently provides:

Every person who enters any house, room, apartment, tenement, shop, warehouse, store, mill, barn, stable, outhouse or other building, tent, vessel, as defined in Section 21 of the Harbors and Navigation Code, floating home, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 18075.55 of the Health and Safety Code, railroad car, locked or sealed cargo container, whether or not mounted on a vehicle, trailer coach, as defined in Section 635 of the Vehicle Code, any house car, as defined in Section 362 of the Vehicle Code, inhabited camper, as defined in Section 243 of the Vehicle Code, vehicle as defined by the Vehicle Code, when the doors are locked, aircraft as defined by Section 21012 of the Public Utilities Code, or mine or any underground portion thereof, with intent to commit grand or petit larceny or any felony is guilty of burglary. As used in this chapter, "inhabited" means currently being used for dwelling purposes, whether occupied or not. A house, trailer, vessel designed for habitation, or portion of a building is currently being used for dwelling purposes if, at the time of the burglary, it was not occupied solely because a natural or other disaster caused the occupants to leave the premises.

Section 460 makes any burglary of an inhabited dwelling house, vessel, floating home, or trailer coach, or the inhabited portion of any other building, burglary of the first degree.

"Of all common law crimes, burglary today perhaps least resembles the prototype from which it sprang. In ancient times it was a crime of the most precise definition, under which only certain restricted acts were criminal; today it has become one of the most generalized forms of crime, developed by judicial accretion and legislative revision. Most strikingly it is a creature of modern Anglo-American law only. The rationale of common law burglary, and of house-breaking provisions in foreign codes, is insufficient to explain it. [Citation.]" (*Davis, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at p. 722, internal quotation marks omitted.)

B. Entries Into Interior Rooms

Section 459 prohibits entry into "any room," with the intent to commit theft or any felony. When faced with a question of statutory interpretation, the court first examines the language of the statute in question. (People v. Murphy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 136, 142.) The words of the statute itself "generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent. [Citation.]" (People v. Leal (2004) 33 Cal.4th 999, 1007, internal quotation marks omitted.) If possible, effect and significance will be given to every word and phrase in the statute. (Garcia v. McCutchen (1997) 16 Cal.4th 469, 476.)

A statute will not be considered in isolation; rather, the court looks to the statutory scheme as a whole. The court examines the entire substance of the statutes in order to determine their scope and purposes. Various parts of the enactments must be harmonized by evaluating them in the context of the statutory framework as a whole. (*People v. Cole* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 964, 975.)

When the statutory language is ambiguous, the court uses a "variety of extrinsic aids" to ascertain its meaning. (*People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1008.) These aids include the statute's placement in the statutory scheme, "the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, and public policy." (*Ibid.*) In using these extrinsic aids, the court selects the construction which most closely comports with the Legislature's apparent intent, in an effort to promote,

rather than defeat, the general purpose of the statute, and avoids an interpretation that would produce absurd results. (*People v. Sinohui* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 205, 212.)

The first case to address an entry into a room for purposes of the burglary statutes was People v. Young (1884) 65 Cal. 225. There, the defendant was charged with burglary after he entered the ticket office of a railroad company and stole some items. The evidence showed that the station had an outer door, which led into a waiting room for passengers. This room, in turn, contained a ticket office with its own door. (Id. at p. 225.) Upholding the conviction, this Court rejected an argument that under section 459, the defendant must have formed the required intent before entering the railway station. This Court held it was sufficient if the intent preceded the entry into the interior room, i.e., the ticket office. This Court explained, "One who enters, with burglarious intent, a room of a house, enters the house with such intent. [Citations.] Here, where the room in a building was known as the ticket office, it was properly described as a 'building, to wit, the ticket office.' If the room was in the house, and the house was a building, a felonious entry into the room was a felonious entry into the building, since burglary consists not of entry alone but of felonious entry." (*Id.* at p. 226.)

More than a century later, the Court of Appeal in *People v. Mackabee* (1991) 214 Cal.App.3d 1250 concluded that the office space behind a counter in a public building qualified as a "room" under section 459. The court noted that it fell within the dictionary definition of the word "room," i.e., "a part of the inside of a building, shelter or dwelling usually set off by a partition. [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 1257, internal quotation marks omitted.) And, the court continued, its conclusion was also compelled by the policies behind the burglary statute, which were to afford "a reasonable person

protection from unauthorized intrusions[.]" (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted.)

People v. McCormack (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 253 (McCormack) is in accord. There, the defendant entered a house through an unlocked door. The defendant walked into the kitchen and from there to the family room, where he asked the victim for a phone, a beer, and jumper cables. The victim asked the defendant to leave but the defendant refused. The victim left and called the police. When they arrived, the defendant was standing in the hallway with a sheet, which contained items taken from the bedroom. At the prosecutor's request, the trial court gave an instruction that stated, "The intent [to steal the personal property of another] need not be in the mind of the person at the time of the initial entry into the structure, if he subsequently forms the intent and enters a room within the structure." (Id. at p. 255.)

The Court of Appeal found the instruction proper, noting that "it is consistent with the literal language of the controlling code section."

(McCormack, supra, 234 Cal.App.3d at p. 255.) The court continued, "We have found no published decisions by a court of this state holding, on facts similar to those present here, that burglary is not committed when the intent to steal is formed after entry to a building but before entering a room therein from which the defendant intends to steal property. This is undoubtedly due to the fact the definition of burglary has included entry into a room with the requisite intent since the Penal Code was first adopted in 1872. [Citation.]" (Ibid.) The court further noted that section 459 specifically prohibited entry into a "room," and, "[i]f this wording did not serve the policy intended by the Legislature it need not have been included in the statute and it could have been removed or modified at any time in the more than 100 years since this code section was first adopted." (Id. at p. 257.) Finally, the court explained, the purpose behind the burglary laws

was to "forestall the germination of a situation dangerous to personal safety. [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted.) "Just as the initial entry into a home carries with it a certain degree of danger, subsequent entries into successive rooms of the home raise the level of risk that the burglar will come into contact with the home's occupants with the resultant threat of violence and harm. Applying the plain language of the statute therefore serves rather than frustrates the policy of the law." (*Ibid.*)

C. The Sparks Decision

This Court revisited the meaning of the word "room" in *Sparks*. There, the defendant knocked on the victim's door and told her he was selling magazines. The victim said she was not interested. The defendant asked the victim for a glass of water. She gave the defendant some water, and he came inside the house. Once there, the defendant talked to the victim about a variety of subjects, becoming increasingly personal as he went on. (Sparks, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 73.) Nervous, the victim asked the defendant to leave. He refused and kept talking. When the victim walked into her bedroom, the defendant followed her and raped her. (Id. at p. 74.) The jury was instructed that any person who entered a building or any room within a building with the specific intent to commit a rape, a felony, was guilty of burglary. The prosecutor argued that the jury could find the defendant guilty if he formed the intent to rape the victim either before entering the house, or after entering the house but before entering the bedroom. The jury convicted the defendant of first degree burglary, among other crimes. The Court of Appeal reversed the burglary conviction for instructional error. (Id. at p. 75.)

This Court reinstated the conviction. In doing so, this Court rejected the defendant's contention, as unsupported by the language of section 459, that a "room" only referred to a locked room where entry is generally unauthorized, even for other legal occupants of the house. This Court

explained that while several other jurisdictions included the qualifiers "private" or "separately occupied" before the word "room," no such limitation appeared in section 459. (Sparks, supra, 28 Cal.4th at pp. 76-78.) This Court then traced the history surrounding section 459, including its ever-expanding scope. (Id. at pp. 78-80.) This Court noted that a number of appellate decisions had upheld one or more burglary convictions based upon entry into private rooms in public or commercial buildings. (Id. at pp. 80-86.)

Applying all of these principles, this Court stated that California courts had allowed burglary convictions involving a variety of rooms. Despite frequent amendments to section 459, the Legislature has never disapproved of any of these decisions. (*Sparks, supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 86.) Further, although many state legislatures had statutorily narrowed and confined the type of rooms which will qualify for burglary purposes, the California Legislature has declined to do so, even when presented with similar amendments. (*Id.* at pp. 86-87.) Finally, the policy behind section 459 was served by construing the bedroom as a "room" because the victim "reasonably could expect significant additional privacy and security when she retreated into her own bedroom." (*Id.* at p. 88.) Accordingly, this Court held, "the unadorned word 'room' in section 459 must be given its ordinary meaning." (*Ibid.*)

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